

Licentiate Thesis Physics

A posturographic test to detect the impairment in postural steadiness after sedation and anesthesia

FM Aino Tietäväinen

May 2012

Supervisor: Prof. Edward Hæggström

Reviewers: Prof. Edward Hæggström Ass.prof. Jeff Mandel

> UNIVERSITY OF HELSINKI DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICS

PL 64 (Gustaf Hällströmin katu 2) 00014 Helsingin yliopisto

HELSINGIN YLIOPISTO – HELS	INGFORS UNIVERS	<u> SITET – UNIVERSITY OF</u>	HELSINKI	
Tiedekunta/Osasto – Fakultet/Sektion – Fa	culty/Section	Laitos – Institution – Department		
Faculty of Science Department of Physics			S	
Tekijä – Författare – Author		<u> </u>		
Aino Tietäväinen				
Työn nimi – Arbetets titel – Title				
A posturographic test to detect	ct the impairment	in postural steadiness	after sedation and	
anesthesia				
Oppiaine – Läroämne – Subject				
Physics				
Työn laji – Arbetets art – Level	Aika – Datum – Month a	and year Sivumäärä	- Sidoantal – Number of	
Licentiate Thesis	May 2012	pages 21+3 ar	opendices	

Tiivistelmä – Referat – Abstract

Anesthetics and sedatives impair postural steadiness and may lead to falls. Since the drug offset and recovery rate is individual, the patient's steadiness and hence his/her safe discharge time is hard to predict. 103 patients with midazolam sedation and 92 patients anesthetized with propofol, were measured with a Nintendo® Wii balance board, before (PRE) and after (POST) endoscopy or colonoscopy. Out of four tested nonlinear algorithms, fuzzy sample entropy (FSE) separated the PRE and POST conditions of the midazolam group with the largest area under the receiver operating characteristic curve AUC, 0.85; FSE decreased with midazolam group from 0.22 ± 0.04 to 0.16 ± 0.04 (p<0.0001). In the propofol group FSE decreased from 0.21 ± 0.04 to 0.19 ± 0.04 with AUC=0.58 and p<0.001. As was expected, the impairment of steadiness was greater in the midazolam group than in the propofol group. Consequently the method can be used to test the impairment in postural steadiness due to midazolam. This study is a step towards developing a tester that indicates a safe patient discharge time after 'day surgery'.

Nukutus- ja rauhoittavat lääkkeet heikentävät tasapainoa ja saattavat aiheuttaa kaatumisia. Koska lääkkeistä toipuminen on yksilöllistä, potilaan tasapaino ja turvallinen kotiuttamisaika on vaikeaa arvioida. Mittasimme 103 midazolamilla rauhoitetun sekä 92 propofolilla nukutetun potilaan tasapainon Nintendo Wii Fit tasapainolaudalla, sekä ennen endoskopiaa tai kolonoskopiaa (PRE) että sen jälkeen (POST). Testasimme neljä epälineaarista algoritmia, joista FSE ('fuzzy sample entropy') erotti PRE ja POST tilanteen suurimmalla ROC-käyrän ('receiver operating characteristic') alle jäävällä pinta-alalla AUC, 0.85; FSE pieneni midazolam ryhmällä arvosta 0.22±0.04 arvoon 0.16±0.04 (p<0.0001). Propofol-ryhmällä vastaavat arvot olivat 0.21±0.04 ja 0.19±0.04, AUCn ollessa 0.58 (p<0.001). Tasapaino heikkeni odotetusti enemmän midazolam ryhmällä kuin propofol ryhmällä. Tämä tarkoittaa, että menetelmää voidaan käyttää midazolam-potilaiden tasapainon testaamiseen. Tämä tutkimus on askel lähemmäksi testeriä, jonka avulla voidaan määritellä turvallinen kotiuttamisaika päiväkirurgiapotilaille.

Avainsanat – Nyckelord – Keywords

Anesthesia, postural steadiness, midazolam, propofol, nonlinear sway measures Säilytyspaikka – Förvaringställe – Where deposited

Muita tietoja – Övriga uppgifter – Additional information

Contents

Acknowledgements	4
List of publications	5
Abbreviations and symbols	6
1 Introduction	7
1.1 Motivation	7
1.2 Aims	7
2 Theory	8
2.1 Postural steadiness	8
2.2 Anesthetics	9
2.3 Signal processing	10
2.3.1 EMD filter	10
2.3.2 Conventional sway measures	11
2.3.3 Nonlinear sway measures	11
2.4 Statistics	11
3 Methods	12
3.1 Measurements	12
3.1.1 Equipment	14
3.2 Data analysis	14
3.3 Statistics	15
4 Results	15
4.1 Study I	15
4.2 Study II	17
5 Discussion	18
5.1 Study I	18
5.2 Study II	18
6 Conclusion	19
7 References	19
Appendix A	I
A.1 Fuzzy sample entropy (FSE)	I
A.2 Detrended fluctuation analysis (DFA)	. II
A.3 Largest Lyapunov exponent (λ_{max})	. II
A.4 Correlation dimension (D_2)	. II

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to Professor Edward Hæggström for his unwavering support throughout the work. You have offered your guidance in all aspects of scientific work and given an honest and franc opinion when one was needed. I would sincerely like to thank Dr. Jeff Mandel for the opportunity to come and work in the Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania. You and your family made me feel welcome and made my stay in Philadelphia memorable.

I wish to thank Dr. Fred Gates for his encouragements, and insight in the field of statistics. I would also like to thank BS Jose Otero for conducting the propofol measurements and Mr. Antti Meriläinen for writing the essential part of our measurement –the Wii Fit software. I thank all Electronics Research Laboratory members for their valuable help and support throughout my work.

I thank the Finnish Work Environment Fund for funding my work and the Department of Anesthesiology and Critical Care, University of Pennsylvania for funding my stay in Philadelphia during the summer 2010.

Finally, I wish to thank the volunteer patients who took the time to stand on the balance board and the wonderful staff working in the Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania Endoscopy unit for giving their priceless help when conducting the measurements.

List of publications

- I Identifying a method to separate the postural steadiness before and after sedation: comparison of four nonlinear and three conventional measures.
 Aino Tietäväinen, Edward Hæggström, and Jeff E. Mandel
 Medical Engineering and Physics (in review)
- II A simple method for detecting the effect of endoscopic sedation on postural steadiness.
 Jeff E Mandel, Aino Tietäväinen, Jose Otero, Edward Hæggström

Anesthesia & Analgesia (submitted)

Abbreviations and symbols

AP	Anterior-posterior
AUC	Area under the receiver operating curve
DFA	Detrended fluctuation analysis
С	Shape factor (FSE)
C_M	Correlation sum (D_2)
CI	Confidence interval
CNS	Central nervous system
COP	Center-of-pressure
d	(Divergence) distance (FSE, λ_{max})
D_2	Correlation dimension
E_i	$(F_{min,i}+F_{max,i})/2$, see section 2.3.1
EO	Eyes open
EC	Eyes closed
EMD	Empirical mode decomposition
f _{mean}	Mean frequency (Eq. 3)
$F_{min,i}$	Interpolated fit of local minima of a signal (EMD)
$F_{max,i}$	Interpolated fit of local maxima of a signal (EMD)
FSE	Fuzzy sample entropy
i,j,k,e	Dummy variables
IMF	Intrinsic mode functions
J	Lag (λ_{max} and D_2)
M	Embedding dimension (λ_{max} and D_2)
ML	Mediolateral
$M_{min,j}$	Local minima of a signal (EMD)
$M_{max,k}$	Local maxima of a signal (EMD)
m	Segment length (FSE)
Ν	Length of the signal
n	Polynomial order (DFA)
р	<i>p</i> -value from Wilcoxon signed rank test
PRE	Before the procedure
POST	After the procedure
r	Tolerance distance (FSE)
r_{D2}	Tolerance distance (D_2)
Range	Sway range (Eq. 1)
ROC	Receiver operating curve
X	COP signal
Δt	Sample interval
S	Segment length (DFA)
V _{mean}	Mean velocity (Eq. 2)
W	Cut-off parameter (DFA)
α	Scaling exponent (DFA)
λ_{max}	Largest Lyapunov exponent
μ	Smooth function (FSE)

1 Introduction

1.1 Motivation

Anesthetic drugs decrease postural steadiness and increase the risk of falls [1]. With some minor procedures ("day surgery"), such as endoscopy and colonoscopy, the residual effect of the drugs is the limiting factor for safe discharge. Since the drug offset rate –and hence the patient recovery– is individual, the state of steadiness after a procedure involving anesthetics is hard to predict.

From a managed health care perspective (cost-efficiency) hospitalization time should be minimized. Currently patients can be released after a certain time (e.g. 30 min) has passed from the procedure and when the patients' vital signs have returned to tolerable levels. The nurses in the recovery area subjectively assess whether the patient is fit for ambulation. A simple tester estimating the patient's fitness for ambulation would be a more objective measure of steadiness and could therefore perhaps decrease the risk of postoperative falls.

1.2 Aims

This thesis work aims to develop a simple tester to assess a patient's fitness for ambulation using posturographic balance measurements. We aim to:

- identify an efficient (large area under the receiver operating characteristic curve, AUC, see section 2.4) method to detect the impairment in postural steadiness due to anesthetics (Study I),
- determine whether the tester detects this impairment in patients that have been administered with two commonly used anesthetics, midazolam and propofol (Study II), and
- 3) present further evidence that the detected impairment in steadiness is due to the drugs and not caused by the procedure itself (Study II).

2 Theory

2.1 Postural steadiness

Maintaining balance is a nonlinear process in which the sensory organs (mainly visual, vestibular, and somatosensory) bring to the central nervous system (CNS) information about the body's orientation relative to the surrounding environment [2]. CNS integrates this information and commands the skeletal muscles to contract to maintain upright posture. In quiet, upright stance the objective is to keep the vertical projection of the body's center-of-mass within an area under the soles of the feet. Anything that affects the CNS or the skeletal muscles affects balance. Such things are in healthy individuals for example age, psychoactive substances, food intake and state of alertness [1-6].

Posturography measures a person's postural steadiness while he/she stands on a balance board [7]. The balance board records the net center-of-pressure (COP) trace along the mediolateral (ML) and anterior-posterior (AP) directions. Posturography is either *static*, where the person stands quietly in an upright stance on the board or *dynamic*, where the person, the board, or even an artificial horizon in front of the person is subjected to motion or disturbances [7].

Balance measurements may suffer from disturbances from external sources, for example voluntary or involuntary movements. Such disturbances may appear as nonstationarities [8] in the COP time series, making the signal mean and variance vary within the observation period. The COP signals have been found to be chaotic, which means that small external perturbations may cause large deviations in the system dynamic [9]. Chaotic signals are nonlinear and deterministic (i.e. causal, completely predictable) [9]. The opposite of a deterministic signal is a stochastic signal, where the signal cannot be predicted accurately due to its randomness. Signals generated by physiological processes exhibit inherent random noise [10]. All these attributes in the balance signal need to be addressed when analyzing the signal.

2.2 Anesthetics

Midazolam is a short acting benzodiazepine that is used for conscious sedation during minor procedures [11]. It is psychoactive drug that depresses the activity of the CNS. In addition to its sedative properties, midazolam's anterograde amnestic properties (i.e. the patient is unable to create new memories while under the influence of midazolam) relieve any unpleasant memories of the procedure [11]. It also reduces anxiety, and has hypnotic (sleep-inducing) and skeletal muscle relaxant properties [11].

Midazolam is suboptimal for producing and maintaining general anesthesia where the patient is unconscious, since a high dose is required which results in a slow recovery [11]. Propofol is a hypnotic agent that is commonly used when loss of consciousness is required [12]. It has similar subhypnotic properties as midazolam: sedative, amnestic, and anxiolytic [12].

Fentanyl is analgetic opioid (painkiller) that may be used with both midazolam and propofol [13]. Benadryl (diphenhydramine) is an antihistamine (allergy drug) [14] that can be used in addition to Fentanyl to augment sedation. Benadryl increases the body sway [14]. In this study we consider only patients who were administered either midazolam or propofol anesthetics possibly together with fentanyl or benadryl. The possible deteriorating effect induced by fentanyl or benadryl on posture is not considered separately from that of midazolam's or propofol's effect.

The context-sensitive half-time [15] is the time after the infusion has ended that is required for the plasma drug concentration to drop to 50% of its original concentration. The context-sensitive half-time is longer with midazolam than with propofol [15] and it increases with longer infusion time. Since the half-time can be used to estimate the offset of intravenous anesthetics [15], it may give some estimation of the expected patient recovery [16]. However, the decrement in drug concentration needed for recovery cannot be considered to be 50% [16]. Other drugs that patients have received may affect the recovery [16]. Moreover, individual differences in recovery are large and hence the recovery cannot be reliably estimated from the context-sensitive half-time alone [16]. However, literature has shown that both midazolam and propofol decrease postural

steadiness [1, 3, 4] and midazolam's impairing effect on steadiness seems to be more profound than the effect of propofol [4]. Propofol patients are also discharged sooner than midazolam patients [17]. Relying on findings in the literature [1, 3, 4] and on the estimated half-times for the two drugs, it may be expected that the propofol patients would show less impairment in postural steadiness after the procedure compared to midazolam patients.

2.3 Signal processing

2.3.1 EMD filter

Empirical mode decomposition (EMD) decomposes a signal into its elemental, polychromatic signals called intrinsic mode functions (IMF) [18, 19]. Each increasing order IMF has a decreasing mean frequency compared to the previous one. In biological signals such as the COP signal the first IMF contain mainly noise whereas the last one holds the signal's slow trend. When using the EMD method as a filter, the signal is recomposed using fewer IMFs than it originally contained, leaving out e.g. IMFs with the highest and lowest frequencies (bandpass filtering). The iterative EMD algorithm is:

- 1) Find all minima $M_{min,j}$ (i.e. local low points), where j=1,2,... and maxima $M_{max,k}$ (i.e. local high points), where k=1,2,... of the signal x_i , where i=1...N.
- 2) Interpolate between all $M_{min,j}$ using a cubic spline interpolation to get $F_{min,i}$ and between all $M_{max,k}$ to get $F_{max,i}$.
- 3) Let $E_i = (F_{min,i} + F_{max,i.})/2$.
- 4) Denote $x_i = x_i E_i$
- 5) Repeat 1)-4) until x_i remains nearly unchanged; this x_i is an IMF.
- 6) Subtract the IMF from the signal: $x_i = x_i$ -IMF_i
- 7) Repeat 1)-6) until there is only one extremum left in x_i

The algorithm can be used with biological signals, since it was designed for nonlinear and nonstationary signals [19].

2.3.2 Conventional sway measures

COP traces are conventionally quantified by measures related to the signal's mean amplitude, velocity, frequency, or sway area [2]. In this study, we chose three commonly used sway measures, sway range (mm), mean velocity (mm/s), and mean frequency (Hz) [2] to quantify the effect of sedation and anesthetics on posture:

 $Range = \max(x) - \min(x), \tag{1}$

$$v_{mean} = \frac{1}{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N-1} \frac{|x_{i+1} - x_i|}{\Delta t},$$
(2)

$$f_{mean} = v_{mean} \cdot \left(\frac{2\pi}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} |x_i|\right)^{-1},\tag{3}$$

where x is the COP signal, N is its length, and Δt the sampling period.

2.3.3 Nonlinear sway measures

We chose four commonly used nonlinear algorithms to quantify the drug induced impairment of postural steadiness. These algorithms are fuzzy sample entropy (FSE) [20] that quantifies the regularity or predictability of a signal; detrended fluctuation analysis (DFA) [21, 22] that quantifies the long-range correlation of the signal; the largest Lyapunov exponent (λ_{max}) [23] that quantifies the chaotic nature of the signal; and the correlation dimension (D_2) [24, 25] that gives an estimate of the number of the active control variables (i.e. degrees of freedom) of the underlying dynamics of the COP trace. These algorithms are detailed in Appendix A.

2.4 Statistics

The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve quantified by the area under the ROCcurve (AUC) can be used to estimate the merit of a test that separates two distributions [26] that may be non-Gaussian. This curve presents the fraction of correctly classified positive, or in our case, POST, cases (sensitivity) against the fraction of correctly classified negative, or in our case, PRE, cases (1-specificity). AUC=1 indicates a perfect test while AUC=0.5 indicates a random score. Confidence intervals (CI) for AUC can be acquired with bootstrapping [26]. A nonparametric Wilcoxon signed rank test [27] can be used to estimate whether two paired distributions are significantly different.

3 Methods

The measurements and setup were identical with the midazolam and propofol patients permitting us to compare the data. Study I identifies the method that detects the impairment in postural steadiness with high AUC after sedation with midazolam. Study II uses that optimal method, compares the tester's ability with both midazolam and propofol patients and gives further support that the measured effect is due to the drugs and not to the medical procedure itself.

3.1 Measurements

Both studies were exempt from having to obtain the patients' written consent by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine. The patients were instructed not to eat for 24 hours or to drink for 6 hours prior to the endoscopy or colonoscopy they were scheduled to undergo. The patients were measured with the Nintendo Wii balance board before the procedure in their waiting pod (PRE) and after the procedure in their recovery pod (POST) when they were deemed ready to be discharged. In both measurements the patients were instructed to stand on the board 60 s eyes open (EO) and then 60 s eyes closed (EC). They were instructed to relax, keep their hands at their sides, focus their eyes on a pattern of a curtain hanging in front of them (when EO) and refrain from speaking. A person stood next to the patients all times ready to support him in case he lost his balance. Patient data is presented in Table 1. The setup and the measurement are presented in Figures 1 and 2.



Fig. 1. Measurement setup. The measurements were conducted in the patient's waiting pod. The operator stood next to the patient during the measurement. The patient chose a pattern ("fixed point") in the curtain in front of him/her to focus eyesight.



Fig. 2. The balance measurement. Patient stood on the balance board in a comfortable position, relaxed, hand at his/her side, and focusing eyesight on a pattern in the curtain ahead of him/her.

	Midazolam	Propofol
Patients (males/females)	103 (42/61)	92 (41/51)
Age (years)	57 (12)	56 (15)
Height (cm)	169 (10)	169 (11)
Weight (cm)	83 (19)	82 (19)
Midazolam/kg (µg/kg)	63 (22)	-
Propofol/kg (mg/kg)	-	3.7 (2.0)
Benadryl/kg (mg/kg)	0.49 (0.18) ^a	-
Fentanyl/kg (µg/kg)	1.5 (0.5)	0.49 (0.43)

Table 1. Patient data, mean (SD) and the administered drugs.

^amean (SD) of the 16 patients that received Benadryl

3.1.1 Equipment

The portable equipment consisted of a Nintendo® Wii Fit balance board [28] featuring 60 Hz sampling frequency and a PC computer that was connected to the balance board with a wireless Bluetooth® connection. The software was custom made and it was based on C# codes available in WiimoteLib open-source library [29].

3.2 Data analysis

Only the AP signal was considered, since the results from the ML signal were inferior compared to the AP signal, possibly due to not standardizing the stance. The AP signal was first standardized to zero-mean, and with nonlinear measures, to unit standard deviation. The signal was filtered with an EMD-based filter (section 2.3.1), recomposing the signal from IMFs 4 to 8. In study I the results from the unfiltered data are presented.

In study I we calculated all the nonlinear (FSE, DFA, λ_{max} and D_2) and conventional (*Range*, v_{mean} and f_{mean}) measures, presented in sections 2.3.2 and 2.3.3 for the midazolam data. We used 10 randomly chosen patient's data to optimize the parameters (*m*, *r* and *c* for FSE, *n* for DFA, and *M* and *J* for λ_{max} and D_2 , Appendix A). We calculated all the nonlinear measures with different combinations of parameter values using the 10 patients' EO PRE and POST data and chose the combination that exhibited the largest AUC (Table 2). In study I we also tested the robustness of the nonlinear algorithms: we changed the parameter values by 500% and observed the resulting change in both AUC values and the sway measure (EO PRE and POST) values. The sway measure that exhibited the smallest

change in AUC was considered most robust. Since FSE separated the PRE and POST conditions with largest AUC in study I, we used this algorithm (only) in study II.

Measure	Parameter	Chosen value
FSE	т	3
	r	0.1
	С	0.01
α	п	2
λ_{max}	М	10
	J	50
D_2	М	6
	J	5

Table 2. The chosen parameter values instudy I (all) and in study II (FSE).

3.3 Statistics

In study I we used ROC-curves (section 2.4) quantified by the AUC and the Wilcoxon signed rank test (section 2.4) to test the merit of the conventional and nonlinear sway measures with regards to separating the PRE and POST conditions. 95% CIs for AUCs were calculated using bootstrapping with 500 repetitions. We consider a *p*-value from the Wilcoxon's test less than 0.05 significant. In study II we used the same methods to compare the results between the midazolam and propofol patients.

4 Results

4.1 Study I

Both the conventional and nonlinear measures detected the impairment due to sedation. Fuzzy sample entropy (FSE) separated the PRE and POST condition in the midazolam group with the highest AUC (AUC=0.85, p<0.0001, m=3, r=0.1, c=0.001) using EO data and EMD filtering. FSE was also the most robust algorithm: changing the m, r and c parameters by 500% changed the AUC by no more than 2.4% (2.4%/500%=0.0048). EO data produced larger AUC compared to EC data and EMD filtering produced larger AUC compared to EC data and EMD filtering produced larger AUC sompared to no filtering, except for the *Range* measure. Figure 1 presents the main results obtained with the FSE algorithm. Figure 2 presents the ROC-curves and AUC values of

all compared measures. Table 3 presents the main results for the EO condition using EMD filtering (except no filtering with *Range*).



Figure 1. Main results of study I. a) The patients' FSE before ('PRE', blue bins) and after ('POST', white bins) the procedure. b) FSE PRE - FSE POST.



Figure 2. The ROC-curves and AUCs obtained with all the measures using the filtering and EO/EC condition that produced the largest AUC.

		PRE	POST	AUC	95% CI
<i>Range^a</i>	(mm)	32 (10)	49 (21)	0.80	0.740.85
V _{mean}	(mm/s)	7.4 (2.7)	8.6 (3.7)	0.61	0.540.67
<i>f</i> _{mean}	(Hz)	0.41 (0.10)	0.30 (0.07)	0.83	0.770.88
FSE		0.22 (0.04)	0.16 (0.04)	0.85	0.800.89
α		1.45 (0.16)	1.65 (0.16)	0.81	0.750.86
λ_{max}		0.33 (0.08)	0.24 (0.08)	0.78	0.720.83
D_2		1.55 (0.14)	1.39 (0.10)	0.83	0.780.87
ant C1	•				

Table 3. Main results, mean (SD) of Study I with EMD filtering and EO condition, mean (SD) of the sway measures. With $v_{mean} p < 0.05$ (PRE vrs. POST), with rest of the sway measures, p < 0.0001.

^aNo filtering

4.2 Study II

The patients' gender, age, height, weight, or FSE scores of the PRE data were not significantly different between the midazolam and propofol groups. Both the midazolam and propofol groups exhibited a FSE significantly lower in the POST condition compared to the PRE condition (p<0.001). However, whereas with the midozolam group the AUC was 0.85 and 0.81 in EO and EC conditions, respectively, with the propofol group the same AUCs were only 0.58 and 0.59. Figure 3 presents the ROC curves of the midazolam and propofol groups, both with EO and EC conditions. Table 4 presents the main results (EMD filtering and EO condition) of Study II.



Figure 3. ROC-curves of the midazolam and propofol groups, with EO and EC conditions

Table 4. Main results, mean (SD) of Study II with EMD filtering and EO condition. With both midazolam and propofol groups p<0.001 (PRE vrs. POST).

	PRE	POST	AUC	95% CI
Midazolam	0.22 (0.04)	0.16 (0.04)	0.85	0.800.89
Propofol	0.21 (0.04)	0.20 (0.04)	0.58	0.460.63

5 Discussion

5.1 Study I

Both nonlinear and conventional sway measures detected the impairment in steadiness due to midazolam sedation. FSE was deemed the most efficacious method since it produced the largest AUC, 0.85 (p<0.0001). It was also the most robust method since its AUC changed only slightly while the input parameters were varied. The least efficacious (AUC=0.78) and also the least robust nonlinear method was λ_{max} . This was possibly due to two factors: first, λ_{max} requires a chaotic (nonlinear and deterministic) signal, and secondly we chose to use 10 randomly chosen patient's data to optimize the parameters, instead of using any of the commonly used methods [23, 25, 30]. However, the simple conventional sway measures *Range* and f_{mean} that require no input parameters also separated the PRE and POST conditions with high AUCs: 0.80 and 0.83. This means that we foresee future use of both the nonlinear and conventional sway measures.

5.2 Study II

Even though the POST FSE was significantly (p<0.001) lower compared to the PRE FSE in both the midazolam and propofol groups, the method separated the PRE and POST conditions only in the midazolam group: AUC was 0.85 with the midazolam group and 0.58 with the propofol group with EMD filtering and EO condition. This result was expected [4, 17]. However, since the anthropologic data and PRE FSE scores of the two groups were not significantly different and since the patients in both cases underwent different procedures (endoscopy or colonoscopy), the differences between the AUCs of the midazolam and propofol groups indicate that the impairment in postural steadiness is caused by the drugs and rather than by the procedure itself. Nintendo Wii Fit balance board was sensitive and robust enough to be used in the clinical balance tests with midazolam patients. This means that a portable and affordable setup could be used along side with clinical force plates. Even though previous studies have been able to detect the impaired steadiness with dynamic posturography, we believe that portable, static setup is safer and easier in field-use. In fact, any movement of the balance board or suppression of the patient's senses leads to a more unstable subject. This may even lead to falls in the recovery area –the very thing that we try to prevent.

6 Conclusion

We showed that the portable and affordable Nintendo Wii Fit balance board –based setup together with EMD filtering and signal analysis using the FSE algorithm can detect the impairment of postural steadiness after sedation with midazolam. However, as was expected, the impairment in postural steadiness after general anesthesia with propofol was less evident and could not be reliably detected. The difference in tester efficiency between the drugs (with the same procedures and with patient populations that do not differ significantly in gender, age, height, weight, or PRE FSE scores) gives further proof that the impairment in postural steadiness is not caused by the procedures itself but rather by the drugs used. We consider the Wii Fit balance board to be a safe and field-usable alternative compared to dynamic posturography and conclude that the method has potential to serve as a screening tool to determine a safe discharge time for midazolam patients.

7 References

- [1] T. Fujisawa, S. Takuma, H. Koseki, K. Kimura, and K. Fukushima, "Recovery of intentional dynamic balance function after intravenous sedation with midazolam in young and elderly subjects," *European Journal of Anaesthesiology*, vol. 23, pp. 422-425, 2006.
- [2] T. Prieto, J. Myklebust, J. Hoffmann, R. Lovett, and B. Myklebust, "Measures of postural steadiness: differences between healthy young and elderly adults," *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, vol. 43, pp. 956-966, 2002.
- [3] A. Gupta, T. Ledin, L. E. Larsen, C. Lennmarken, and L. M. Ödkvist, "Computerized dynamic posturography: A new method for the evaluation of postural stability following anaesthesia," *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, vol. 66, pp. 667-672, June 1, 1991 1991.
- [4] T. Fujisawa, S. Takuma, H. Koseki, K. Kimura, and K. Fukushima, "Study on the usefulness of precise and simple dynamic balance tests for the evaluation of

recovery from intravenous sedation with midazolam and propofol," *European Journal of Anaesthesiology*, vol. 24, pp. 425-430, 2007.

- [5] S. Johnson and K. Leck, "The effects of dietary fasting on physical balance among healthy young women," *Nutrition Journal*, vol. 9, pp. 1-7, 2010.
- [6] E. Hæggström, P. Forsman, A. Wallin, E. Toppila, and I. Pyykkö, "Evaluating sleepiness using force platform posturography," *IEEE transactions on biomedical engineering*, vol. 53, pp. 1578-1585, 2006.
- [7] T. E. Prieto, J. B. Myklebust, R. G. Hoffmann, E. G. Lovett, and B. M. Myklebust, "Measures of postural steadiness: differences between healthy young and elderly adults," *Biomedical Engineering, IEEE Transactions on*, vol. 43, pp. 956-966, 1996.
- [8] J. Carroll and W. Freedman, "Nonstationary properties of postural sway," J *Biomech*, vol. 26, pp. 409-416, 1993.
- [9] J. W. Blaszczyk and W. Klonowski, "Postural stability and fractal dynamics," *Acta Neurobiologiae Experimentalis*, vol. 61, pp. 105-112, 2001.
- [10] L. Glass, "Synchronization and rhythmic processes in physiology," *Nature*, vol. 410, pp. 277-284, 2001.
- [11] J. Schüttler, H. Schwilden, K. T. Olkkola, and J. Ahonen, "Midazolam and Other Benzodiazepines," in *Modern Anesthetics*. vol. 182: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2008, pp. 335-360.
- [12] J. Schüttler, H. Schwilden, C. Vanlersberghe, and F. Camu, "Propofol," in *Modern Anesthetics*. vol. 182: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2008, pp. 227-252.
- [13] J. Schüttler, H. Schwilden, F. S. Servin, and V. Billard, "Remifentanil and Other Opioids," in *Modern Anesthetics*. vol. 182: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2008, pp. 283-311.
- [14] A. F. Cohen, J. Posner, L. Ashby, R. Smith, and A. W. Peck, "A comparison of methods for assessing the sedative effects of diphenhydramine on skills related to car driving," *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, vol. 27, pp. 477-482, 1984.
- [15] M. A. Hughes, P. S. A. Glass, and J. R. Jacobs, "Context-sensitive Half-time in Multicompartment: Pharmacokinetic Models for Intravenous Anesthetic Drugs," *Anesthesiology*, vol. 76, pp. 334-341, 1992.
- [16] S. Schraag, U. Mohl, M. Hirsch, E. Stolberg, and M. Georgieff, "Recovery from opioid anesthesia: the clinical implication of context-sensitive half-times," *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, vol. 86, pp. 184-190, January 1, 1998 1998.
- [17] J. E. Mandel, J. W. Tanner, G. R. Lichtenstein, D. C. Metz, D. A. Katzka, G. G. Ginsberg, and M. L. Kochman, "A Randomized, Controlled, Double-Blind Trial of Patient-Controlled Sedation with Propofol/Remifentanil Versus Midazolam/Fentanyl for Colonoscopy," *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, vol. 106, pp. 434-439, February 2008 2008.
- [18] R. T. Rato, M. D. Ortigueira, and A. G. Batista, "On the HHT, its problems, and some solutions," *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, vol. 22, pp. 1374-1394, 2008.
- [19] N. Huang, Z. Shen, S. Long, M. Wu, H. Shih, Q. Zheng, N.-C. Yen, C. Tung, and H. Liu, "The empirical mode decomposition and the Hilbert spectrum for nonlinear and non-stationary time series analysis," *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences,* vol. 454, pp. 903-995, 1998.

- [20] G. Xiong, L. Zhang, H. Liu, H. Zou, and W. Guo, "A comparative study on ApEn, SampEn and their fuzzy counterparts in a multiscale framework for feature extraction," *Journal of Zhejiang University -Science A*, vol. 11, pp. 270-279, 2010.
- [21] D. Delignieres, S. Ramdani, L. Lemoine, K. Torre, M. Fortes, and G. Ninot, "Fractal analyses for 'short' time series: A re-assessment of classical methods," *Journal of Mathematical Psychology*, vol. 50, pp. 525-544, 2006.
- [22] C.-K. Peng, S. V. Buldyrev, S. Havlin, M. Simons, H. E. Stanley, and L. Goldberger, "Mosaic organization of DNA nucleotides," *Physical Review E*, vol. 49, pp. 1685-1689, 1994.
- [23] M. T. Rosenstein, J. J. Collins, and C. J. De Luca, "A practical method for calculating largest Lyapunov exponents from small data sets," *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, vol. 65, pp. 117-134, 1993.
- [24] P. Grassberger and I. Procaccia, "Characterization of Strange Attractors," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 50, pp. 346-349, 1983.
- [25] M. Roerdink, M. De Haart, A. Daffertshofer, S. Donker, A. Geurts, and P. Beek, "Dynamical structure of center-of-pressure trajectories in patients recovering from stroke," *Experimental Brain Research*, vol. 174, pp. 256-269, 2006.
- [26] T. A. Lasko, J. G. Bhagwat, K. H. Zou, and L. Ohno-Machado, "The use of receiver operating characteristic curves in biomedical informatics," *Journal of Biomedical Informatics*, vol. 38, pp. 404-415, 2005.
- [27] N. Crichton, "Information point: Wilcoxon signed rank test," *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, vol. 9, p. 584, 2000.
- [28] Nintendo, "<u>http://www.nintendo.com/wii/console/accessories/balanceboard</u>"
- [29] WiimoteLib, "<u>http://wiimotelib.codeplex.com/</u>"
- [30] D. E. Lake, J. S. Richman, M. P. Griffin, and J. R. Moorman, "Sample entropy analysis of neonatal heart rate variability," *American Journal of Physiology. Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology,* vol. 283, pp. R789-797, September 1, 2002 2002.

Appendix A

This appendix presents the algorithms for the nonlinear measures.

A.1 Fuzzy sample entropy (FSE)

The FSE algorithm [20] compares all combinations of *m*-length sequences $X_i(m)=[x_i, x_{i+1}, ..., x_{i+m-1}]$ and $X_j(m)=[x_j, x_{j+1}, ..., x_{j+m-1}]$ $(i \neq j)$ of the signal, with i, j = 1, 2, ..., N-m. The distance *d* between $X_i(m)$ and $X_j(m)$ is determined as $d(i, j)=\max_{0 \le k \le m-1}|X_{j+k}-X_{i+k}|$. Next, a function $\mu(d(i, j), r, c)=\exp(-(d^{\ln(\ln 2^c)/\ln r})/c)$ is calculated, where the tolerance (distance) *r*, and the shape factor *c* determine the shape of the function μ . The smaller the distance *d* between $X_i(m)$ and $X_j(m)$, the larger the μ . Next, the following quantities are defined:

$$B_i^m(r) = \frac{1}{N - m - 1} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{N - m} \mu(d(i, j), r, c) , \qquad (4)$$

$$B^{m}(r) = \frac{1}{N-m} \sum_{i=1}^{N-m} B_{i}^{m}(r).$$
(5)

The procedure is repeated with *m*+1-length sequences (now $d(i,j)=\max_{0\leq k\leq m}|X_{j+k}-X_{i+k}|$) leading to $A^{m}_{i}(r)$ and $A^{m}(r)$:

$$A_i^m(r) = \frac{1}{N - m - 1} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{N - m} \mu(d(i, j), r, c),$$
(6)

$$A^{m}(r) = \frac{1}{N-m} \sum_{i=1}^{N-m} A_{i}^{m}(r) .$$
(7)

The Fuzzy Sample Entropy is defined as:

$$FSE = -\ln\left(\frac{A^m(r)}{B^m(r)}\right).$$
(8)

A.2 Detrended fluctuation analysis (DFA)

In the DFA algorithm [21, 22] the signal x_i , where i=1...N, is first integrated and divided into non-overlapping segments of equal length, *s*. A polynomial of order *n* is fitted to each *s*-length segment, leading to fit f_i . Next, the square root of the average residuals of the segments is calculated:

$$F(s) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} [x_i - f_i]^2}$$
(9)

F(s) is plotted on a logarithmic scale against different s. The slope of the curve is the scaling exponent α . A larger value of α indicates a more persistent, 'smoother' signal.

A.3 Largest Lyapunov exponent (λ_{max})

The largest Lyapunov exponent algorithm [23] first presents the signal x_i in a state-phase presentation, $X_i=[x_i, x_{i+J}, x_{i+2J}, ..., x_{i+(M-I)J}]$, where *J* is the lag, *M* the embedding dimension and X_i a point along a *N*-(*M*-1)*J* length trajectory. If initially close trajectories later diverge exponentially, λ_{max} is positive and the system is chaotic. The divergence is quantified using nearest neighbours, X_j ; X_j is defined as the X_j which minimizes the Euclidean distance between X_j and X_j and which has a temporal separation greater than the mean period (here $1/f_{mean}$, see Eq. 3) of the signal [23]. The divergence at an instance *i* is:

$$d(i)_{j} = d(0)_{j} e^{\lambda_{\max}(i\Delta t)},$$
(10)

where $d(0)_j$ is the initial distance between X_j and X_j . Hence, λ_{max} is estimated with a least-squares fit to the line $y(i)=1/\Delta t \langle \ln d(i)_j \rangle$, where $\langle \rangle$ is the average value over j neighbours [23].

A.4 Correlation dimension (D_2)

The correlation dimension algorithm [24, 25] starts with the same state-phase presentation as the λ_{max} algorithm. It then calculates the correlation sum C_M :

$$C_{M}(r_{D2}) = \frac{2}{(N-W+1)(N-W)} \sum_{i=1}^{N-W} \sum_{j=i+W}^{N} \Theta(r_{D2} - |X_{i} - X_{j}|),$$
(11)

where |.| indicate the Euclidean distance and W is a cut-off parameter that can be defined as a measure that depends on the signal properties [25]. In here, we decided to choose the same value as with λ_{max} : W is the mean period, $1/f_{mean}$ (Eq. 3). C_M behaves as a power law, $C_M(r) \propto r_{D2}$ for small values of r_{D2} . Hence D_2 is defined as the linear part of the slope of C_M against r_{D2} in logarithmic scale.